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JURI SDI CTI ON AND PROCEDURAL HI STORY

This is a proceedi ng coomenced by the Secretary of Labor,
M ne Safety and Heal th Admi nistration (hereinafter MSHA) on
behal f of WIIiam Johnson alleging that WIIliam Johnson was
di scharged from his enpl oynment at Borden, Inc., Chem cal
Di vi sion, Smth-Dougl ass (hereinafter Borden) on April 26, 1978,
because of activity protected under section 105(c) of the Federal
M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977, 30 U.S.C. [815(c)
(hereinafter the Act). On May 10, 1978, WIIliam Johnson filed a
conplaint with the Occupational Safety and Health Adm nistration
(hereinafter OSHA) concerning his discharge. OSHA investigated
t he conpl ai nt and subsequently referred the matter to NMSHA.

On Decenber 31, 1979, MSHA filed this action on behal f of
W1 Iiam Johnson. Upon conpletion of discovery and prehearing
requi renents, a hearing was held in Tanpa, Florida, on Decenber
2-4, 1980. The followi ng witnesses testified on behal f of
Conpl ai nant: Gerald E. Harper, Charles DeCroes, WIIliam Johnson,
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and Donal d Fancher. The follow ng witnesses testified on behalf
of Borden: Kenneth Snow, Richard Daniels, and Joseph Lang
Because of the onset of a sudden illness, Joseph Lang was unabl e
to conplete his testinony at the hearing. Pursuant to an
agreement of the parties, M. Lang conpleted his testinony by
means of a deposition in Atlanta, Georgia, on Decenmber 18, 1980.

At the hearing, Borden objected to MSHA's right to propose a
civil penalty herein without follow ng the procedures set forth
in 30 CF.R [0100.5 and 100.6 and 29 C. F. R [2700.25. Borden's
obj ection was sustained and the civil penalty proposal was
severed fromthe conplaint and remanded to MSHA to begin the
civil penalty assessnent process.

| SSUES

VWhet her Borden viol ated section 105(c) of the Act in
di schargi ng Conpl ai nant WIliam Johnson and, if so, what relief
shal | be awarded to Conpl ai nant.

APPL| CABLE LAW

Section 105(c) of the Act, 30 U S.C. [0815(c), provides in
pertinent part as foll ows:

(1) No person shall discharge or in any nanner

di scri m nate agai nst or cause to be di scharged or cause
di scrimnation against or otherwise interfere with the
exercise of the statutory rights of any mner
representative of mners or applicant for enploynment in
any coal or other mne subject to this Act because such
m ner, representative of miners or applicant for

enpl oynment has filed or made a conpl ai nt under or
related to this Act, including a conplaint notifying
the operator or the operator's agent, or the
representative of the mners at the coal or other mne
of an all eged danger or safety or health violation in a
coal or other mine, or because such m ner
representative of mners or applicant for enploynment is
t he subject of medical eval uations and potenti al
transfer under a standard published pursuant to section
101 or because such mner, representative of mners or
applicant for enploynent has instituted or caused to be
instituted any proceeding under or related to this Act
or has testified or is about to testify in any such
proceedi ng, or because of the exercise by such m ner
representative of mners or applicant for enploynment on
behal f of hinself or others of any statutory right

af forded by this Act.

(2) Any miner or applicant for enployment or
representative of mners who believes that he has been
di scharged, interfered with, or otherw se discrimnated
agai nst by any person in violation of this subsection
may, within 60 days
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after such violation occurs, file a conplaint with the
Secretary alleging such discrimnation. Upon receipt
of such conplaint, the Secretary shall forward a copy
of the conplaint to the respondent and shall cause such
i nvestigation to be nade as he deens appropriate. Such
i nvestigation, shall conmence within 15 days of the
Secretary's receipt of the conplaint, and if the
Secretary finds that such conplaint was not frivol ously
brought, the Conm ssion, on an expedited basis upon
application of the Secretary, shall order the imedi ate
reinstatement of the miner pending final order on the
conplaint. If upon such investigation, the Secretary
determ nes that the provisions of this subsection have
been viol ated, he shall imediately file a conplaint with
t he Conmi ssion, with service upon the alleged violator and
the m ner, applicant for enploynment, or representative of
m ners alleging such discrimnation or interference and
propose an order granting appropriate relief. The
Conmmi ssion shall afford an opportunity for hearing (in
accordance with section 554 of title 5, United States
Code, but without regard to subsection (a)(3) of such
section) and thereafter shall issue an order, based
upon findings of fact, affirm ng, nodifying, or vacating
the Secretary's proposed order, or directing other
appropriate relief. Such order shall becone final 30
days after its issuance. The Comni ssion shall have
authority in such proceedings to require a person
committing a violation of this subsection to take such
affirmative action to abate the violation as the Conm ssion
deens appropriate, including, but not limted to, the
rehiring or reinstatement of the mner, to his former
position with back pay and interest. The conpl ai ni ng m ner
applicant, or representative of mners may present additiona
evi dence on his own behal f during any hearing held pursuant
to this paragraph

STI PULATI ONS
The parties stipulated the foll ow ng:

1. Borden is an "operator" of a "mne" as those terns are
defined in the Act.

2. WIlIliam Johnson was enpl oyed as a "miner" by Borden from
Cct ober 29, 1973, to and including April 26, 1978, as that term
is defined in the Act.

3. During the period of Johnson's enploynent wi th Borden as
a mner, imrediately prior to his termnation on April 26, 1978,
Johnson was enpl oyed at the Tenoroc Mne facility.

4. WIIliam Johnson was enpl oyed by Borden pursuant to the
terns and provisions of a collective bargai ni ng agreenent between
Borden and Local 37,



~929

I nternational Chemi cal Wrkers' Union. Until the fina

di sciplinary action on April 18, 1978, Johnson had never received
any oral or witten reprinmand, suspension, or discharge from or
with respect to his job performance and enpl oynment w th Borden.

5. Pursuant to the Coll ective Bargaini ng Agreenent,
particularly Article X, Paragraph 9, "[n]o enpl oyee can be
di scharged without first being suspended, the suspension to
beconme automatically a discharge within seven cal endar days of
its issuance unl ess otherw se directed by the managenent or
nodi fied by the grievance procedure.”

6. Pursuant to such collective bargai ni ng agreenent, Borden
retained the right to discipline and di scharge, but had no
publ i shed rul es of conduct for enpl oyees.

7. On or about April 4, 1978, WIIiam Johnson nade a
nui sance report to the Pol k County Health Department about filthy
restroons.

8. An inspection was made on April 7, 1978, and a follow up
i nspection on April 14, 1978, showed correction of the situation

9. On April 13, 1978, WIIliam Johnson returned to the
machi ne shop at Tenoroc and renoved tools fromhis | ocker

FI NDI NGS OF FACT

I find that the preponderance of the evidence of record
establishes the follow ng facts:

1. At all times relevant herein, Borden was the operator of
the Tenoroc M ne (hereinafter the mne) in Polk County, Florida.

2. WIIliam Johnson (hereinafter Johnson) was enpl oyed as a
"mner" by Borden from Cctober 29, 1973, to April 26, 1978. At
the relevant times herein, Johnson worked as a machi ne shop
hel per and recovery plant oiler. Prior to the incident |eading
to Johnson's discharge, no disciplinary action had been taken
agai nst himby Borden. Johnson earned $4.58 per hour at the tine
of his discharge and his pay woul d have increased to $4.83 per
hour on July 1, 1978, pursuant to a collective bargaining
agreement between Borden and Local No. 37, International Chemica
Wor kers' Union (hereinafter the Union).

3. Labor-managenent relations at the m ne were governed by
the coll ective bargai ning agreenent. Al though Johnson did not
bel ong to the Union, the Union was recognized as the excl usive
bar gai ni ng agent for all production and mai nt enance enpl oyees at
t he m ne.

4. During the time prior to April 4, 1978, WIIliam Johnson
conpl ai ned about the filthy condition of the restroomfacilities
at the mne. On April 4, 1978, he tel ephoned the Pol k County,

Fl orida, Departnent of Health
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(hereinafter Department of Health) and conpl ai ned about filthy
restroons at the mne

5. On April 7, 1978, Johnson was notified by his
supervisor, Larry Bradford, that the restroons woul d be inspected
and that Johnson should clean themprior to the inspection

6. On April 7, 1978, Cerald E. Harper, a sanitarian
enpl oyed by the Departnent of Health inspected the restroons at
the mne. During this inspection, he was acconpani ed by nine
manager, Jim Calandra. O the three restroons inspected, two were
found to be in satisfactory condition, the third restroom was
ordered cl osed, and m nor violations were noted by the
sanitarian. During the course of the inspection, mne manager
Ji m Cal andra made several references to the person who filed the
heal th conpl aint and stated, in response to a question fromthe
sanitarian, that he knew that Johnson filed the conplaint.

7. On April 10, 1978, Borden posted a notice that the
position of machi ne shop hel per at the mine would be elimnated
effective April 17, 1978. Johnson and one ot her enpl oyee were
the only enpl oyees cl assified as machi ne shop hel pers at the
m ne. Thereafter, Johnson clainmed a tenporary job for 1 week as a
recovery plant oiler but did not attenpt to "roll" or "bunp" into
a permanent job prior to the time of his discharge.

8. In late 1977, Johnson enrolled in a weldi ng course.
Borden was aware of this fact and gave Johnson permission to
practice welding at the mne after working hours on his own tine.
Borden's superintendent, Richard Daniels, testified that Johnson
was instructed that he could practice welding only when a
supervi sor was present. Johnson testified that Superintendent
Dani el s only instructed himthat he should practice welding after
his regular shift but not on weekends when no one was present.

9. At one of the two entrances to the mne property, there
were gates and a guard shack. Borden contracted with an
i ndependent security firmto provide guard services at this
entrance. Oten, the guard shack was unoccupi ed. The ot her
entrance to the mne property was unguarded. It was the practice
of miners enployed at the mne to return to the m ne property
after working hours and on weekends to go fishing on the nine
property. It was not the customor practice of the mners to
stop or sign in at the guard shack. Frequently, mners would be
acconpani ed by nonenpl oyees during their fishing expeditions.

10. On April 13, 1978, at approximately 7 p.m, Johnson
returned to the mne to practice welding. Upon entering the
property, he bypassed the guard shack and entered the unguarded
entrance. Prior to this time, there had been a heavy rain. When
Johnson attenpted to begin wel ding, he got an el ectrical shock
due to the wet floor conditions. He discontinued welding but
decided to clean out his |ockers since he only had 1 nore worKking
day before he began work at a different building at the mne
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11. The mine had no witten rules or policies concerning the
procedure for checking out |ockers, but Superintendent Daniels
clained that he and Larry Bradford, Johnson's inmmedi ate
supervisor, told Johnson and the ot her machi ne shop hel per not to
renove tools until their |ockers had been checked. Johnson
deni ed that he received such an instruction from Bradford or
Daniels. Neither Bradford nor the other nachi ne shop hel per
testified at the hearing.

12. On Friday, April 14, 1978, Superintendent Daniels
notified Johnson that he intended to check his | ocker before
Johnson reported to his new assignnent as a recovery plant oiler
Johnson advi sed Daniels that he had no tools in his | ocker since
he took them hone on the previous night.

13. On Monday, April 17, 1978, Superintendent Daniels
call ed Joseph A. Lang, industrial relations manager of Borden's
Smi t h- Dougl ass Division, and informed Lang that Johnson had
violated his instructions and that sonething should be done about
it. A neeting to discuss the situation was schedul ed for the
next day.

14. On Tuesday, April 18, 1978, a neeting was held at the
mne with the followng in attendance: Joseph Lang, R chard
Dani el s, Larry Bradford, Kenneth Snow -the Union shop steward at
the m ne, and Johnson. During this meeting, Johnson conceded
that he had renoved certain tool s--sone bel onging to Borden and
some of his own tools--fromhis |ocker on April 13, 1978.

Johnson deni ed receiving an instruction from Superi ntendent
Dani el s or Supervisor Bradford that he have his | ocker checked
out before renmoving tools. Contrary to the assertions of Lang and
Dani el s, Johnson was not asked to return the tools. At the
concl usi on of the meeting, Johnson was given a Termination Notice
signed by Daniels stating that he was "suspended for 7 days to
automatically end in termnation on 4-26-78" for the foll ow ng
reasons: "Unauthorized plant entry, unauthorized renoval of
tools and failure to follow specific instructions of Supervisor."

15. Borden's enpl oynent and personnel records show that
prior to April 18, 1978: (1) several enployees were suspended,
wi t hout bei ng di scharged, for up to 7 days for failure to foll ow
i nstructions or insubordination, but only one enpl oyee was
di scharged for "gross insubordination"; (2) several enployees
were di scharged for theft of conpany property; and (3) no
enpl oyees were subject to discipline for unauthorized plant entry
or unaut horized renoval of tools.

16. Johnson was unenpl oyed from April 26, 1978 to August 7,
1978 when he conmenced enpl oynment at Church's Fried Chicken
Inc., at a salary of $175 per week.

17. Johnson paid Sun Personnel Services the sum of $951.33
for its services in obtaining enploynment for Johnson at Church's
Fried Chicken, Inc.

18. Johnson was enpl oyed at Church's Fried Chicken, Inc.



until My 1979. Between May 1979, and February 1980, Johnson
wor ked for three different enployers as a grinder operator, a
life insurance sal esman, and a
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clerk. Since February 18, 1980, he has been enpl oyed by Pi per
Aircraft Corporation. Johnson's current rate of pay at Piper
Aircraft Corporation is $5.68 per hour

DI SCUSSI ON
A.  Applicable Law and Contentions of the Parties

Section 105(c)(1) of the Act provides in pertinent part:
"No person shall discharge * * * any miner * * * pbecause such
mner * * * has filed or nade a conplaint under or related to
this Act * * * of an alleged danger or safety or health
violation * * *." Recently, in Secretary of Labor on behal f of
Davi d Pasula v. Consolidation Coal Company, 2 FMSHRC 2786
(Cctober 14, 1980) (hereinafter Pasula), the Conm ssion anal yzed
section 105(c) of the Act, the legislative history of that
section, and simlar antiretaliation issues arising under other
Federal statutes. The Conmi ssion held as foll ows:

We hold that the conpl ai nant has established a prinma
facie case of a violation of Section 105(c)(1) if a

pr eponder ance of the evidence proves (1) that he
engaged in a protected activity, and (2) that the
adverse action was notivated in any part by the
protected activity. On these issues the conpl ai nant
must bear the ultimte burden of persuasion. The

enpl oyer may affirmatively defend, however, by proving
by a preponderance of all the evidence that, although
part of his notive was unlawful, (1) he was al so
notivated by the mner's unprotected activities, and
(2) that he would have taken adverse action against the
mner in any event for the unprotected activities

al one. On these issues, the enployer nust bear the
ultimate burden of persuasion. It is not sufficient
for the enployer to show that the mner deserved to
have been fired for engaging in the unprotected
activity; if the unprotected conduct did not originally
concern the enpl oyer enough to have resulted in the
sanme adverse action, we will not consider it. The
enpl oyer nust show that he did in fact consider the
enpl oyee deserving of discipline for engaging in the
unprotected activity alone and that he woul d have
disciplined himin any event. 1d. at 2799-2800.

[ Enphasis in original.]

MSHA, on behal f of Johnson, contends that Johnson was
di scharged by Borden because of his conplaints to Borden and the
Departnment of Health concerning filthy restroons at the mne
Conpl ai nant further asserts that Borden's stated reasons for
di schargi ng Johnson are a pretext to conceal an unlawful notive.
Johnson clainms that he is entitled to reinstatenent, back pay,
and ot her consequential damages.

Borden asserts that Johnson did not establish a prima facie
case because of the following: (1) his conplaint to the
Department of Health about filthy restroons is not protected



activity under section 105(c)(1) of the Act;
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(2) he did not establish that his discharge "was notivated in any
part by the alleged protected activity"; (3) Borden had a "l ega
and rational basis to discharge M. Johnson", i.e., unauthorized
pl ant entry, unauthorized renoval of tools, and failure to foll ow
specific instructions of supervisor; and (4) Johnson is not
entitled to the renedi es he seeks.

B. Did Johnson Engage in Protected Activity

Johnson asserts that he conpl ained to Borden about the
filthy and unheal t hful conditions of the restroons at the mne
and, when no action was taken by Borden, he called the Departnent
of Health about this conplaint. Borden contends that Johnson did
not intend to exercise his statutory right under section
105(c) (1) of the Act and, hence, this was not activity protected
under the | aw

It should first be noted that sanitary toilet facilities are
t he subject of a mandatory NMSHA regul ation applicable to netal
and nonnetallic open-pit mnes. 30 CF.R 0O55.20-8(b) provides
in pertinent part: "(Toilet) facilities shall be kept clean and
sanitary."” Thus, | find that a conplaint about the unclean and
unsanitary toilet facilities is activity protected under section
105(c) (1) of the Act. Furthernore, it matters not that the
conpl aint was made to the Departnment of Health as opposed to
MSHA. The fact is that the conplaint is a health conplaint which
constitutes protected activity.

Borden is unable to cite any authority to support its
contention that a miner nust establish that he intended to invoke
his statutory rights at the tinme he nade his conplaint. \Were
the m ner established that he did, in fact, engage in protected
activity under section 105(c)(1) of the Act, | find that there is
no additional requirement that the miner establish an intent to
i nvoke the statutory rights.

I conclude that Johnson has established that he engaged in
protected activity pursuant to section 105(c) (1) of the Act in
connection with his conplaint about unsanitary toilet facililties
at the mne

C. Was Johnson's Discharge Motivated in Any Part by His Protected Activity

On the issue of Borden's alleged unlawful notivation for
Johnson' s di scharge, MSHA and Johnson presented no direct
evi dence. However, they assert that Borden was aware of Johnson's
conplaint to the Departnment of Health; Johnson was identified as
t he conpl ai ner; and shortly thereafter Johnson was di scharged.
Al of the relevant events occurred in April 1978, as follows:
April 4--Johnson conpl ained to Departnent of Health; Apri
7--Departnent of Health inspected the nmine and ordered
corrections and repairs; April 14--Final inspection by the
Departnment of Health finding violations to be abated; and Apri
18- -Johnson was suspended with intent to discharge. Al though not
articul ated as such, Conpl ai nant apparently contends that the
above circunstances give rise to an inference of unlaw ul



nmotivation sufficient to establish a prinma facie case.
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Borden contends that Conplainant has failed to establish a prinma
faci e case because he presented no evidence "that the adverse
action was notivated in any part by the alleged protected
activity." Mreover, Borden asserts that the testinony of its
managenent enpl oyees who made the determ nation to discharge
Johnson- - Superi nt endent Daniels and Industrial Relations Manager
Lang--establish that neither of themwas aware of the fact that
Johnson made the conplaint to the Departnent of Health until |ong
after Johnson was di scharged.

The first issue to be resolved is whether Borden was aware
of the fact that Johnson nade the conplaint to the Departnent of
Heal th. Departnent of Health sanitarian Gerald Harper testified
that he perforned the inspections in question. During the
initial inspection on April 7, 1979, he was acconpanied by m ne
manager Jim Cal andra. Harper stated: "On the way back, Cal andra
made references to the person who filed the health conpl ai nt
saying he was in the bargaining unit but not in the Union
* * * | then asked himif he knew who filed the conplaint and
he said Johnson did." (Exh. G6-E) JimCalandra did not testify
at the hearing.

Johnson testified that his supervisor, Larry Bradford, told
himprior to the initial inspection by the Departnent of Health,
that since he was concerned about clean toilet facilities, he
shoul d clean them hinself. Larry Bradford was al so present at
t he nmeeti ng when Johnson was suspended but he did not testify at
t he heari ng.

VWi | e Joseph Lang may have been unaware of the fact that
Johnson initiated the health conplaint, it is inconceivable that
Superi ntendent Daniels was unaware of it since both of the other
supervisors of the m ne had such know edge. Curiously, these two
supervisors did not testify at the hearing. Superintendent
Dani el s' testinony, that he had no know edge of Johnson's
conpl ai nt concerning the unsanitary toilet facilities, is
rejected. On this issue, | find that Johnson's testinony,
concer ni ng Superintendent Daniels' statenments admitting know edge
of Johnson's conplaint prior to his discharge, is nore credible.
Mor eover, Johnson's ot her evidence corroborating Borden's
know edge of his conplaint was not rebutted by Borden. Thus, |
concl ude that Borden was aware of the fact that Johnson made the
conplaint to the Departnent of Health.

Turni ng next to the question of the alleged unl awful
notivation of Borden in discharging Johnson, | find that the
sequence of events is relevant. Johnson worked for Borden for
4-1/2 years prior to April 1978, w thout any disciplinary action
bei ng taken against him On April 4, Johnson filed his health
conplaint. On April 7, because of Johnson's concern about the
toilet facilities, he was ordered to clean themprior to their
i nspection. Upon conpletion of the inspection on April 7,
Borden's mi ne manager Ji m Cal andra expressed a personal animus
towar ds Johnson as set forth above. On April 10, Johnson's job
was abolished or termnated. On April 14, the final inspection
by the Health Departnent took place and Johnson was questioned



about unaut horized plant entry and unauthorized renoval of tools.
On April 18, Johnson was called to a neeting and suspended with
an intent to
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di scharge. | conclude that these circunstances give rise to an

i nference that Johnson's discharge was notivated by his protected
activity. Therefore, the preponderance of the evidence
establishes a prinma facie case of violation of section 105(c)(1)
of the Act.

D. Did Borden Establish a Legiti mate Reason for Johnson's Di scharge

Under the standard announced by the Commi ssion in Pasul a,
supra, once the Conpl ai nant establishes a prinma facie case of
vi ol ati on of section 105(c) (1) of the Act, Borden may
affirmatively defend by proving by a preponderance of the
evi dence that its decision to di scharge Johnson was al so
nmotivated by his unprotected activities and that it woul d have
di scharged himfor the unprotected activities alone. 1In this
regard, Borden asserts that Johnson engaged in serious
m sconduct - - unaut hori zed plant entry, unauthorized renoval of
tools, and failure to follow specific instructions of
supervi sors--whi ch constitutes a |l egal and rational basis for his
di scharge. Thus, it is necessary to exam ne and anal yze,

i ndi vidual ly and cumul atively, these contentions by Borden

The issue of Johnson's all eged unauthorized plant entry on
April 13, involves the limts of Johnson's privilege to use the
Borden facilities to practice welding after regul ar working
hours. The evidence establishes that Johnson enrolled in a
wel di ng course in 1977 and Borden was aware of this fact.

Johnson asserts that he was initially given perm ssion to use
Borden's equi pnment and facilities to practice welding in
connection with this course. In late 1977, Superintendent
Dani el s and Johnson di scussed the terns under which Johnson would
be permtted to practice welding. Apparently, there were no

wi tnesses to this conversation and not hi ng was reduced to
witing. Superintendent Daniels testified that he instructed
Johnson that he was only permtted on the premses if a
supervi sor was present or the plant was in operation. Johnson
testified that the only limtation on his access to the plant was
t hat Johnson could not practice welding on weekends when no one
was there.

At the hearing, there was nuch ado about security at this
mne. Suffice it to say that | find that during the period in
qguestion, Borden failed to establish that Johnson was required to
check in with the guard or that he attenpted to conceal his
entry. The evidence al so establishes that security was lax and it
was common practice for mners to enter the site after regul ar
hours, sonetinmes acconpani ed by nonenpl oyees, for the purpose of
fishing on waters within Borden's property.

In any event, Superintendent Daniels and Industrial
Rel ati ons Manager Lang concede that no enpl oyee had ever been
di sciplined for unauthorized plant entry before and that even by
their version of this incident, Johnson's unauthorized pl ant
entry, standing alone, would not nerit nore than a short
suspensi on. Therefore, | find that Johnson's all eged unauthorized
plant entry, even if true, would not justify his discharge.
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Borden's contentions concerning Johnson's all eged unaut hori zed
renoval of tools and failure to follow specific instructions of
his supervisor are interrelated. Superintendent Daniels contends
that both he and Johnson's supervisor, Larry Bradford, told
Johnson that he was not to renove his tools until his [ockers had
been checked out. Daniels cannot recall the date of his
instruction to Johnson but thinks he gave this instruction on
Tuesday or Wednesday, April 11 or 12. Again, supervisor Larry
Bradford did not testify. Johnson clains that neither Daniels
nor Bradford gave himany instruction concerning the renoval of
his tools prior to April 14. In any event, Johnson conceded t hat
when he went to the mine during the evening of April 13 to
practice wel ding, he also renoved sone of his own tools al ong
with wel ding tools belonging to Borden. Johnson's stated reason
for the renoval of the welding tools was that his job in this
| ocation was to termnate the followi ng day and that he was to
begin a tenporary assignment for a period of 1 week begi nning on
Monday, April 17. Although Borden has established a record of
di sci plining other enployees previously for theft of its
property, it never accused Johnson of theft. Mreover, while
Borden asserts that it ordered Johnson to return its tools on
several occasions, the evidence fails to support this claim
Johnson denies that he was ever asked to return the tools.
Kennet h Snow, the Union shop steward and a witness called by
Borden, testified that he attended the neeting of April 18 at
whi ch Johnson was suspended, but could not recall Johnson being
asked to return the tools. To this date, alnost 3 years after
the incident in question, Borden has taken no action to retrieve
the tools in question

Al t hough Borden contended that it was standard practice that
enpl oyees' | ockers had to be checked before they were reassi gned
to another site, the evidence again fails to support this claim
Borden had no witten rule or policy concerning the renoval of
property frommners' |ockers. The evidence fails to support
Borden's contention that such a verbal rule or practice was
enforced. Borden has never alleged that Johnson conmtted theft
in taking the tools. The evidence fails to establish that Borden
at any tine requested the return of the tools. The evidence does
not establish that Johnson violated a supervisor's instruction
and the testinony of Superintendent Daniels to the contrary is
rejected because it is not credible. 1In short, the evidence
shows that Borden's clains concerning the unauthorized renoval of
tools and failure to follow specific instructions of the
supervisor are a pretext to conceal its unlawful notive of
di schargi ng Johnson in retaliation for his conplaint to the
Departnment of Health. Borden has failed to establish its
affirmati ve defense. Since Borden failed to establish its
affirmati ve defense, Conpl ai nant has sustai ned his conpl aint of
di scharge in violation of section 105(c)(1) of the Act.

E. Award of Conpl ai nant
Section 105(c)(2) of the Act provides in pertinent part that

if the charges are sustai ned, Conplainant shall be granted such
relief as is appropriate "including but not limted to, the



rehiring or reinstatement of the mner to his forner position
wi th back pay and interest."” The evidence of record establishes
that the mne in controversy was closed by Borden in
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[ate 1978. On August 1, 1980, Borden sold all of its remaining
m nes to Amax Phosphate, Inc. The ternms of the agreement between
Borden and Amax Phosphate, Inc., are not in the record. However,
I note that the record establishes that all enpl oyees of Borden
on the date of the sale were automatically transferred to Amax
Phosphate, Inc. In an anal ogous case, the Conm ssion ordered a
successor operator to reinstate an enpl oyee who was unl awful |y

di scharged in violation of section 110(b)(1) of the Federal Coa
M ne Health and Safety Act of 1969. See denn Miunsey v. Smitty

Baker Coal Conpany, Inc., 2 FMSHRC 3463 (Decenber 4, 1980). In
any event, Borden is ordered to rehire and reinstate Johnson to
his forner position. |If Borden is unable to conply with this

order, the parties may apply to the Conm ssion for additiona
relief. Although Johnson clainms that he wi shes to be rehired and
reinstated by Borden, there is no explanation in the record for
MSHA' s failure to seek an order of tenporary reinstatenent for

hi m pursuant to section 105(c)(2) of the Act. Moreover, since
Johnson is presently enployed at Piper Aircraft Corporation at
wages hi gher than he earned at Borden, there is sone question
whet her he truly is seeking to be rehired and reinstated. For

t he foregoi ng reasons, Johnson shall notify Borden wi thin 15 days
after the date on which this decision becones final, whether he
will accept reinstatenent to his forner position at Borden. A
failure of Johnson to notify Borden within the above period wll
constitute a waiver or forfeiture of Johnson's right to be
rehired and reinstated.

Turning to the question of back pay, the evidence
est abl i shes that Johnson was unenpl oyed from April 26, 1978,
until August 7, 1978. | find that Johnson's rate of pay would
have been $4.58 per hour between April 26, 1978, and June 30,
1978. His rate of pay, pursuant to the agreenment between Borden
and the Uni on woul d have been $4.83 per hour beginning on July 1,
1978. | find that Johnson | ost 47 days' wages at 8 hours per day
at $4.58 per hour and 25 days' wages at 8 hours per day at $4.83
per hour. Therefore, Johnson is entitled to an award of
$2,688.08 for the period during which he was unenpl oyed fol |l owi ng
his discharge. Exhibit G 15, which shows the wages paid to the
recovery plant oiler during Johnson's period of unenploynment, is
received in evidence over Borden's objection. | find, however,
that this docunent is entitled to little weight because of
Conplainant's failure to establish that he would have held this
position during his period of unenpl oynent.

On August 7, 1978, Johnson accepted a job paying $175 per
week. Wiile his base pay at Borden woul d have been approxi mately
$18 per week nore, Johnson was vague concerning increases in his
wages. He conceded that he was earning approxi mately $195 per
week at tinmes and at other tines was earning a comm ssion of
approxi mately $100 per week. Thereafter, Johnson changed jobs
frequently. The evidence presented by Conpl ai nant concerning his
claimfor back pay after August 7, 1978, is specul ative and
insufficient to establish any valid claim Therefore, the claim
for back pay after August 7, 1978, is denied.

After being discharged by Borden, Johnson attenpted to find



ot her enpl oynent. Since he was unsuccessful, he contracted with
Sun Per sonnel



~938

Services, Inc., for assistance in finding enploynent. When the
enpl oyment agency | ocated a job for Johnson, he paid a fee of
$951.33 for its services. Borden argues that this fee should be
di sal | owed because Johnson failed to exhaust "job opportunities
available to (him without outside paid help” and "the fee is not
for conparabl e enpl oynent but for a conplete change of career.”
Borden submits no authority in support of these contentions and
they are rejected. | find that this enploynent agency fee is the
type of consequential danmages which is authorized by section
105(c)(2) of the Act. Conplainant is awarded the additional sum
of $951.33 with interest at 6 percent per annumfromJuly 3,
1978.

Johnson al so seeks rei mbursenent of $20 paid by himfor tape
recordi ngs of his unenpl oynent conpensation hearing. Johnson
failed to establish a valid reason for the need for these tape
recordi ngs as a reinbursable itemof consequential danmages. The
claimfor $20 for tape recordings of the unenpl oynent
conpensation hearing i s denied.

Finally, Borden is required to expunge all references to
Johnson's di scharge from his enpl oynent records.

CONCLUSI ONS OF LAW

1. At all tines relevant to this decision, Johnson and
Borden were subject to the provisions of the Act.

2. This Administrative Law Judge has jurisdiction over the
parties and subject matter of this proceedi ng.

3. On April 4, 1978, Conpl ai nant Johnson engaged in the
followi ng activity which is protected under section 105(c)(1):
Tel ephone call to the Departnment of Health conpl ai ni ng about
filthy restroons at Borden's m ne

4. Conpl ai nant Johnson established a prinma facie case of a
vi ol ati on of section 105(c) (1) of the Act because he established
by a preponderance of the evidence that he engaged in a protected
activity and that he was di scharged under circunstances which
give rise to an inference that the di scharge was notivated by the
protected activity.

5. Borden's justification for discharging
Conpl ai nant - - unaut hori zed pl ant entry, unauthorized renoval of
tools, and failure to foll ow specific instructions of the
supervisor--is a pretext to conceal the true reason for
Conpl ai nant' s di schar ge.

6. Borden failed to establish that it would have di scharged
Conpl ai nant for the unprotected activities cited in the Notice of
Ter m nati on.

7. Conplainant WIIliam Johnson was di scharged by Borden in
viol ation of section 105(c) (1) of the Act.



8. Conpl ai nant Johnson shall be rehired and reinstated with
full seniority rights.
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9. During the period beginning on April 26, 1978, and endi ng on
August 7, 1978, Conpl ai nant woul d have earned $4.58 per hour
until July 1, 1978, and $4.83 per hour thereafter for 40 hours a
week for a total of $2,688.08. Conplainant has failed to
establish his claimfor back pay subsequent to August 7, 1978.
Conplainant is entitled to an award of $2,688.08 as back pay plus
interest at the rate of 6 percent per annum fromthe dates such
paynments were due to the date such paynment is nade

10. Conplainant is entitled to an additional sum of
$951. 33, the amobunt paid to Sun Personnel Services, Inc., on July
3, 1978, for services in obtaining enploynment at Church's Fried
Chi cken, Inc., conmencing on August 7, 1978. Conplainant is also
entitled to interest on this sumat the rate of 6 percent per
annum fromJuly 3, 1978 to the date such payment is nade

11. Conplainant has failed to establish entitlenment to an
award of $20 for obtaining recordings of his unenpl oyment
conpensati on hearing.

12. MsHA failed to follow the procedures concerning
proposed assessnent of a civil penalty as set forth in Conm ssion
Rul e of Procedure 25, 29 C.F.R [2700.25 and, therefore, the
proposed assessnent of a civil penalty is severed fromthis
proceedi ng and remanded to MSHA for further proceedi ngs.

CORDER

WHEREFORE, I T IS ORDERED t hat Conpl ai nant's conpl ai nt of
di scharge i s SUSTAI NED and Conpl ai nant shall be rehired and
reinstated with full seniority rights provided that he notifies
Borden of his desire to be rehired and reinstated within 15 days
after this decision becones final

IT 1S FURTHER ORDERED t hat Borden shall pay to Conpl ai nant
the follow ng sums: (1) $2,688.08 for back pay plus interest at
the rate of 6 percent per annum fromthe dates such paynents were
due to the date paynent is nmade; and (2) $951.33 for an
enpl oynment service fee paid by Conpl ai nant in connection with
subsequent enploynent, plus interest at the rate of 6 percent per
annum from July 3, 1978, to the date paynent is nade

IT 1S FURTHER ORDERED t hat Borden shall expunge al

references to Conpl ainant's di scharge from his enpl oynent
records.

James A. Laurenson Judge



